A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The government committed egregious misconduct m 

attempting to bribe a material witness. 

2. The court CITed in admitting ER 404(b) evidence to show the 

complaining witness's credibility and state of mind without also requiring 

expe1i testimony on the dynamics of a domestic violence relationship. 

3. The reasonable doubt instruction required more than a 

reasonable doubt to acquit and shifted the burden to appellant to provide the 

jury with a reason for acquittal. 

4. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived appellant a fair trial. 

5. Cumulative error deprived appellant a fair trial. 

6. Jury instruction number 3 defining "prolonged period of 

time" constituted a judicial comment on the evidence and relieved the State 

of its burden of establishing every element of the aggravating factor. 

7. The court erred in imposing an exceptional sentence based on 

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(i). 

8. The comi CITed m entering a lifetime no-contact order 

between appellant and his son. 

Issues Peiiaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Does the State commit egregious misconduct when it 

attempts to bribe a material witness with a monetary benefit in exchange for 
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his cooperation, and does such misconduct require dismissal where the State 

cannot show the absence of prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt? 

2. Did the trial com1 err in admitting ER 404(b) evidence of 

past acts of domestic violence between appellant and the complaining 

witness without also requiring an expert to explain the dynamics of a 

domestic violence relationship? 

3. The trial com1 instructed the jury that a "reasonable doubt is 

one for which a reason exists." Does this instruction undermine the 

presumption of innocence by instructing the jmy it must be able to articulate 

a reason before it can have a reasonable doubt? 

4. Did the prosecutor improperly disparage defense counsel by 

calling the defense "quite frankly absmd" several times in closing? 

5. Did the prosecutor unfairly align himself with the jmy by 

using the phrase "we know" in closing argument to describe several disputed 

issues of fact and vouch for the credibility of several witnesses? 

6. Did cumulative error deprive appellant a fair trial? 

7. An exceptional sentence based on a pattern of abuse requires 

the State to prove multiple incidents occurring over a prolonged period of 

time. Where the judge instructed the jury "prolonged period of time" meant 

"more than a few weeks," was the State relieved of its bmden to prove this 

element of the aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt? 
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8. Without dete1mining whether the order was reasonably 

necessary to serve a compelling State interest, did the court impermissibly 

prohibit all contact between a father and his son for life? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State charged Bryan Corbett, Jr., with one count of first degree 

burglary (Count 1), one count of second degree child assault (Count 2), and 

two counts of felony violation of a no-contact order (Counts 3 and 4). CP 

16-19. The State alleged that on February 2, 2014, Super Bowl Sunday, 

Corbett chased after Charlene Harris into a neighbor's apartment and threw 

an empty knife block at her, striking their six-month-old son in her arms. 

1. Corbett's Testimony 

Corbett, who also goes by Bryan Nichols, Jr., 1 dated Harris for 

several months after they met at a conceii in June 2012. RP 34 7 -48? 

Corbett and Harris have a son named J.N. RP 111-12, 350-51. Corbett does 

not live with Han-is, but he helps her with money, diapers, and clothes for 

J.N. RP 3 51. There was a no-contact order in place between Corbett and 

Han·is from April19, 2013 until April19, 2015. Ex. 4; RP 128-29. 

1 Corbett explained that Nichols is his father's last name and Corbett is his mother's last 
name, so he goes by either. RP 347. 

2 The verbatim report of proceedings is consecutively paginated, exception for voir dire 
and opening statements, held on July 14, July 15, and July 16, 2014. The consecutively 
paginated transcripts are labeled "RP" and the voir dire transcript is labeled "2RP." 

'1 
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On February 2, 2014, Corbett's brother, Samuel Corbett, and sister

in-law, Lorionne Dorsey, picked Corbett up from a convenience store in the 

Kent-Des Moines area. RP 321, 331-33, 351. The three of them went to a 

friend's house nearby to watch the Seahawks play in the Super Bowl. RP 

351-52. They arrived before kickoff and stayed about an hour after the game 

ended. RP 352. After they left, Samuel and Dorsey dropped Corbett off at 

the Tukwila Transit Center. RP 334-35, 353. Corbett then went to his 

mother's house in the Central District and stayed for the night. RP 353. He 

did not see Harris after the Super Bowl ended. RP 353. Samuel and Dorsey 

both corroborated Corbett's testimony at trial. RP 320-25, 331-35. 

A couple days later, Harris contacted Corbett to say she and her 

boyfriend, James Dixon, got into a fight when they were drinking heavily 

and getting high the night of the Super Bowl. RP 353-54. Harris told 

Corbett the argument became physical, so she asked Corbett to come over 

and beat up Dixon. RP 354. Corbett went over to Harris's apartment to "set 

things straight between her and James and to make sure that [J.N.] was 

okay." RP 354. Corbett believed the no-contact order between him and 

Harris had been lifted, because Harris told him she met with a victim's 

advocate and the judge, who agreed to lift the order. RP 349-50, 355. 

Then, on February 25, 2014, Corbett went over to Harris's apartment 

again to help care for J.N. RP 357. While he was there, he heard police 
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scream, "Bryan Corbett come out," which made him nervous, so he hid. RP 

357. The police anested him for an alleged physical altercation with BmTis 

on Super Bowl Sunday. RP 357-58. 

2. Banis's Testimony 

Banis testified that on February 2, 2014, she and Corbett were 

drinking and watching the Super Bowl at her apartment in South Seattle. RP 

111-13. J.N. was in his playpen while they watched the game. RP 113. 

BmTis explained she was intoxicated at the time and did not remember all 

the details of the day. RP 113. 

BmTis said she and Corbett got into an argument, but could not 

remember what it was about. RP 114. BatTis ran out of the apartment with 

J.N. and began knocking on neighbors' doors until her neighbor, Suldan 

Mohamed, answered and let her inside. RP 114-16. A few minutes later, 

Corbett forced his way inside Mohamed's apattment. RP 117. J.N. cried 

while Ban·is and Corbett yelled at each other. RP 118, 168-69. Corbett then 

picked up an empty knife block from Mohamed's kitchen counter and threw 

it at Banis. RP 118, 168-69. The knife block hit J.N., who Banis was still 

holding in her arms. RP 118-20, 168-69. Banis and Mohamed believed 

J.N. was knocked unconscious because he stopped crying for about 20 

seconds. RP 119-20, 170. 
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Mohamed pushed Corbett out of the apatiment and called 911. RP 

120-21, 171. The 911 call was played for the jury. RP 171-72. During the 

call, Han·is told Mohamed the man was Btyan Nichols and he was the 

baby's father. RP 173. 

HatTis testified she then left Mohamed's apatiment and Corbett 

dragged her down the hallway and punched her in the face. RP 121. Harris 

could not remember how long this altercation lasted or whether she fought 

back. RP 121. 

Police and paramedics arrived at the apartment complex around 7:30 

p.m. RP 82-84, 122. Corbett was not there when they arrived. RP 122. 

J.N. had red mark on his forehead, but did not lose consciousness again. RP 

84-85, 90, 145. Han·is and J.N. were transpmied to Harborview. RP 85-87, 

122. Paramedic Mark Colley said HatTis seemed intoxicated because she 

was repeating herself and slmTing her speech. RP 85-87. 

At the hospital, HatTis denied that J.N. ever lost consciOusness, 

inconsistent with what she said at trial. RP 161, 230-33. Harris also testified 

at trial that she suffered permanent hearing loss from the incident, but the 

doctors found no signs of hearing damage and Han·is did not repmi any 

hem·ing problems at the hospital. RP 148-49, 234. The doctors concluded 

that Han·is's injuries were relatively minor, consisting of small cuts and 

scratches on her anns and face. RP 226-28, 236; Exs. 20-24. 
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Social Worker Jeffrey Meyers spoke with Harris at Harborview. RP 

156-58. Meyers could smell alcohol on Harris. RP 159. She told him 

Corbett threatened to kill her, and also grabbed her by the hair outside 

Mohamed's door and dragged her down the hallway. RP 157-58. 

On February 25, 2014, police went to Banis's apartment to anest 

Corbett. RP 251. Harris answered the door, and the police yelled for 

Corbett to come out. RP 252. When he did not, Hanis let them inside and 

they found Corbett hiding under BatTis's older son's bed. RP 253. 

3. Police Investigation 

Detective Adam Thorp investigated the case. RP 198-99. When he 

initially spoke with Hanis, she told him Dixon committed the crime. RP 

203. Hanis did not know Dixon's birthday, but she provided Thorp with 

Dixon's phone number. RP 206. Thorp did not call the number or attain a 

search wanant to confilm it was Dixon's phone. RP 206-07. 

Thorp also contacted Mohamed. RP 200. Mohamed was not very 

cooperative with the police or defense counsel, but he eventually testified at 

trial. RP 27-29. On cross-exan1ination, Mohamed explained Thorp offered 

to buy him a set of knives if he agreed to help the State prosecute Corbett. 

RP 183-84, 198. Mohamed said he told Thorp, "I don't want nothing to do 

with this stuff, it's okay. Not interested." RP 184. Mohamed explained he 
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was testifYing not because Thorp offered him a knife set, but because the 

State subpoenaed him to testifY. RP 188-89. 

Then, on direct, Thorp asserted he never offered Mohamed anything 

m exchange for his cooperation, but admitted he offered to replace 

Mohamed's knife block. RP 204. On cross, Thorp insisted the offered knife 

block "was simply a replacement." RP 208. 

However, Corbett's counsel then played the following recorded 

conversation between Thorp and Mohan1ed: 

DETECTIVE THORP: Yeah. And by the way, I 
need[] to advise you, this line is recorded. But you[] are a 
huge pmt of this particular case as far as bringing justice to 
the perpetrator and making sure that he is held responsible as 
the only witness. Because [Han·is] may not be very 
cooperative right now, and so it really relies heavily on your -
- on your -- on what you saw on your statements and 
whatnot. In fact, I've been authorized by the Prosecuting 
Attorney's Office to buy you a new knife set, knife block and 
knife set, and you can keep your old ones[] as well, if that's 
something you're interested in. 

RP 208-09. In the san1e conversation, Thorp then asked Mohamed whether 

he could describe Corbett. RP 210. Mohamed responded, "You know, I 

can't recall exactly how shmt he was or how tall he was." RP 210. 

Mohamed also told Thorp he was not sure whether he could identifY Corbett 

if he saw a photo of him. RP 21 0-11. 

After this conversation with Thorp, Mohan1ed explained that posters 

showed up all over his apartment building with Corbett's name and photo, 
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calling him "mmed and dangerous." RP 180, 185-86, 189-90. Mohamed 

said he recognized Corbett from this photo. RP 190. 

4. Procedural Facts 

At trial, Han-is admitted she originally identified Dixon, but 

explained she made Dixon up because she "cared and loved Mr. Corbett." 

RP 132, 197. Based on this evidence, the State sought to admit several prior 

incidents between Han-is and Corbett under ER 404(b), specifically Corbett's 

2012 convictions for fourth degree assault and harassment of Han-is. RP 33-

34, 102-03. With both of those prior incidents, Han·is originally identified 

someone other than Corbett as the perpetrator. RP 34. 

Corbett opposed admitting this evidence, arguing expe1i testimony 

was needed "to substantiate the state's psychological hypothesis that 

domestic violence victims are prone to lying when testifying about 

allegations against their assailants." CP 23; RP 35-36. Corbett argued the 

dynamics of a domestic violence relationship are beyond the common 

knowledge of a lay jury. CP 24. Thus, without the expert testimony, "the 

jury would see the prior bad acts only as propensity evidence, and the 

evidence would then be unfairly prejudicial under ER 403." CP 23. 

The trial court admitted the prior incidents under ER 404(b ), without 

requiring expe1i testimony. RP 107. The court found it "necessary that the 

fact-finder have a full understanding of the state of the mind of the alleged 
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victim as well as an understanding of the dynamics of the relationships 

between the two." RP 107. The court agreed there was "no question" the 

evidence was prejudicial, but "the probative value far outweighs the 

prejudipe in this case." RP 107. Corbett renewed his objection. RP 107. 

Before Harris's testimony about the prior incidents, the court gave 

the following limiting instruction: 

Ce1iain evidence has been determined to be 
admissible in this case only for a limited purpose. This 
evidence consists of testimony concerning prior assaults 
against Chamell Hanis by the defendant. These incidents 
may be considered by you only for the purpose of evaluating 
Chamell Hanis' credibility and her state of mind. You may 
not consider it for any other purpose. Any discussion of the 
evidence during your deliberations must be consistent with 
this limitation. 

RP 133. Hanis then testified Corbett was convicted of assaulting her in 

August and November 2012. RP 134. She agreed she originally told the 

police someone else committed the crimes. RP 134. HmTis explained she 

began seeing Corbett again after these incidents because she "cared about 

him" and "was pregnant by him too." RP 135. 

The State also called Harris's 10-year-old son J.H. to the stand in an 

attempt to impeach Corbett's alibi. RP 340-41. On direct, J.H. testified he 

watched the beginning of the Super Bowl with Harris and Corbett at his 

mom's apartment. RP 342-43. J.H. explained that his grandparents picked 

him up early, though, when HmTis and Corbett began arguing. RP 343. 
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However, on cross, J.H. admitted he might have left Harris's apartment 

before the game started. RP 344. J.H.'s grandfather, Eugene HaiTis, 

explained that the game started around 5:30p.m. and J.I-I. asked to be picked 

up around 2:45p.m. RP 23. J.H. also said Eugene told him what to say on 

the stand, agreeing Eugene does not like Corbett. RP 344-46. 

The jury acquitted Corbett of second degree child assault, instead 

finding him guilty of the lesser included fomih degree assault. CP 68-69. 

The jury found him guilty on the remaining charges. CP 66-72. The jury 

fotmd that all counts were domestic violence offenses, and Counts 1 and 3 

were committed within sight and sound of J.N _3 CP 66-72. After a 

bifurcated proceeding, the jury also retumed a special verdict finding that 

Counts 1, 3, and 4 were aggravated domestic violence offenses based on an 

ongoing pattem of abuse over a prolonged period oftime.4 CP 73-75. 

The court sentenced Corbett to 152 months of confinement, 36 

months above the standard range. CP 85-88. The court ordered Corbett to 

have no contact with Harris or J.N. for life. CP 88. Corbett appeals. CP 99. 

3 RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(ii) (allowing an exceptional sentence when the jury finds "[t]he 
offense occmTed within sight or sound of the victim's or the offender's minor children 
under the age of eighteen years"). 

4 RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(i) (allowing an exceptional sentence when the jury finds "[t]he 
offense was part of an ongoing pattern of psychological, physical, or sexual abuse of a 
victim or multiple victims manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of 
time"). 
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C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE STATE COMMITTED EGREGIOUS MISCONDUCT 
IN ATTEMPTING TO BRIBE A MATERIAL WITNESS, 
NECESSITATING DISMISSAL. 

The State attempted to bribe Mohamed, a material witness, by 

offering him a monetary benefit-a new knife set and knife block, along 

with the return of his original knife block-in exchange for his cooperation 

and positive identification of Corbett. RP 208-09. Where the State engages 

in such egregious misconduct, the only adequate remedy is dismissal unless 

the State can affinnatively show no prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Because the State cannot do so here, this Court should reverse Corbett's 

convictions and dismiss the charges with prejudice. 

a. The State engaged in egregious misconduct by 
attempting to btibe a material witness. 

The Washington Supreme Court has held similar attempted bribery 

to constitute professional misconduct. In re Disciplinary Proceedings 

Against Bonet, 144 Wn.2d 502, 514-15, 29 P.3d 1242 (2001). Charles 

Bonet was assigned to prosecute Jason McCarty in a conspiracy case. Id. at 

505. Prior to McCarty's trial, Ivan Yoder, a named defense witness and 

potential co-conspirator, made conflicting statements about whether or not 

he was going to testify for McCarty. Id. 
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After trial began, Yoder asked a detective to ask Bonet to drop a 

charge against him if he did not testifY for McCarty. Id. Bonet told the 

detective to ask Yoder if he would testifY for the State instead. I d. Yoder 

declined, but Bonet later spoke with Yoder directly and told him if he did not 

testify for McCa1ty, they could "work something out." Id. Bonet and Yoder 

eventually agreed Bonet would drop a pending charge against Yoder if he 

did not testifY for McCaJ.ty. Id. at 506. Bonet formally dismissed the charge 

against Yoder, but Yoder nevertheless testified for McCarty. Id. 

On appeal, the court framed the issue as follows: "is it misconduct 

for a deputy prosecuting attomey to attempt to induce a witness to not testifY 

for a person charged with a crime, even if the offer has no affect on the 

witness's decision to not testifY?" Id. at 513. The court held: 

We have no difficulty reaching a conclusion that a 
public or private attomey may not offer an inducement to a 
witness in order to influence that person to not testifY at a 
trial. An attomey who does that, in our view, violates RPC 
3.4(b), RPC 8.4(b), and RPC 8.4(d), regardless of whether 
the offer or inducement influenced the witness's decision to 
testifY or not testifY. 

Id. at 514 (footnotes omitted). The comt further explained, "In our view, it 

would contradict the interest of the public to absolve Bonet of an act of 

professional misconduct merely because Yoder had a prior subjective intent 

to not testifY." I d. at 514-15. 
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In reaching this conclusion, the court emphasized that prosecutors 

possess significant power "to charge or not charge a person with a crime." 

Id. at 515. They are quasi-judicial officers with the duty to seek justice, not 

just convictions. State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 146-47, 684 P.2d 699 

(1984). Therefore, the Bonet court held, a prosecutor's offer to dismiss a 

charge in order to influence a witness's testimony "is highly unethical and as 

deserving of opprobrium as would a public or private attorney's effort to 

bribe a witness with money to influence that person's testimony." 144 

Wn.2d at 515 (emphasis added).5 

RPC 3.4(b) prohibits lawyers from offering "an inducement to a 

witness that is prohibited by law." RPC 8.4 likewise specifies it is 

misconduct for a lawyer to "(b) commit a criminal act that reflects adversely 

on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other 

respects," and "(d) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration 

of justice." RCW 9A.72.090 criminalizes bribing a witness: 

A person is guilty of bribing a witness if he or she offers, 
confers, or agrees to confer any benefit upon a witness or a 
person he or she has reason to believe is about to be called as 
a witness in any official proceeding ... with intent to: (a) 
influence the testimony of that person. 

5 Cf. In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Simmons, 110 Wn.2d 925, 928-29, 757 P.2d 
519 (1988) (finding attorney misconduct for giving whiskey to an adverse witness known 
to be an alcoholic). 
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Thus, it is prosecutorial misconduct, as well as a crime, to offer a monetary 

benefit to a witness with intent to influence that person's testimony. 

Mohamed was not a very cooperative witness. RP 27-29. He 

informed the State he "didn't want to cooperate, he didn't want anything to 

do with it . . . and he would only give a few terse answers to the 

investigator." RP 28. Mohamed told the police he could not recall what 

Corbett looked like and was not sure he could identify him. RP 21 0-11. 

When Detective Thorp contacted Mohamed, Thorp informed Mohamed his 

cooperation was essential to the State's case. RP 208-09. Then, in the same 

conversation, Thorp told Mohamed, "In fact, I've been authorized by the 

Prosecuting Attorney's Office to buy you a new knife set, knife block and 

knife set, and you can keep your old ones[] as well, if that's something 

you're interested in." RP 209. Though Mohamed said he did not accept the 

knife set, he thereafter identified Corbett. RP 180, 189-90. 

Thus, the State offered Mohamed a monetary benefit-a new knife 

set and knife block-in exchange for his cooperation and positive 

identification of Corbett. The State does not need to resort to such bribery. 

Instead, lawful procedures like subpoenas and material witness wan·ants are

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