FILED

July 22, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 72453-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

BRYAN CORBETT, JR.,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE LAURA INVEEN

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DAVID SEAVER Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. CORBETT DID NOT ADDRESS AT TRIAL, OR OTHERWISE PRESERVE FOR REVIEW, A CLAIM OF GOVERNMENTAL MISCONDUCT HE NOW RAISES ON APPEAL.

For the first time on appeal, Corbett contends that his convictions must be reversed due to "egregious" governmental misconduct, which, he alleges, consisted of the State offering Mohamed a "bribe" in the form of a new knife block in exchange for his appearance as a witness favorable to the State in its case-inchief. Brief of Appellant, at 12. Corbett did not seek dismissal of his case or some lesser remedy while his trial was pending or taking place, and failed to develop adequately a sufficient factual basis for this Court to address his claim on appeal. His argument should be rejected.

An appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a); State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 97-98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). As the O'Hara court observed, the policy underlying this rule is to encourage the efficient use of judicial resources, and an appellate court should be loath to sanction a party's failure to point out to the trial court an error that could have been timely corrected. Id. at 98.

Here, Corbett neither sought dismissal or other sanction as a pretrial motion *in limine*, nor did he file a post-verdict motion with the trial court for relief pursuant to CrR 7.5 or CrR 7.8. Rather, his experienced trial counsel elected to address this subject by way of cross-examination of both the investigating detective and Mohamed about their seemingly odd telephonic exchange regarding replacement of the knife block that Corbett had thrown at Ms. Harris, which had subsequently been seized by police as evidence. 5RP 183-84, 205-09.

In his brief to this Court, Corbett neglects to address the bar that RAP 2.5(a) presents due to the fact that he is asking this Court to provide relief for a purported error that he did not appropriately raise to the superior court. In order to obtain the remedy he seeks, Corbett is obligated to establish that an error of constitutional

magnitude occurred that actually affected his rights at trial. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926-27, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). Corbett cites to no constitutional provision that he believes was violated. Moreover, given that Mohamed explained to the jury that the investigating detective's apparent offer of a replacement knife block had no impact on either his decision to testify or on the substance of his testimony,² it is difficult to see how he has demonstrated actual prejudice.

Perhaps more crucially, Corbett elected to forgo development of a complete factual record at the trial court level regarding the entire background and context of this exchange between the investigating detective and Mohamed, particularly considering that the detective was purporting to extend this offer on behalf of the prosecutor's office. His veteran trial counsel's strategic decision should be accorded a degree of deference, and seen as suggestive of the likelihood that there was less substance here than might initially meet the eye, and that this brief conversation was perhaps best utilized as a "gotcha" moment before the jury, rather than as the basis for a motion for dismissal with prejudice.

² 5RP 183-84, 188.

Corbett neither provides relevant authority nor a sufficient factual basis upon which this Court should take the drastic measure he seeks. He cannot establish that a constitutional error occurred or that his trial is unavoidably tainted as a result.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE OF CORBETT'S PRIOR ACTS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AGAINST MS. HARRIS.

Corbett next asserts that he is entitled to a new trial because the superior court improperly admitted evidence of his prior abuse of Ms. Harris. Corbett does not contest the existence of his earlier bad acts or that they are relevant to Ms. Harris's credibility and state of mind. Rather, he contends that case law allows for the admission of such evidence only if the State also presents expert testimony regarding the dynamics of relationships marked by domestic violence. Brief of Appellant, at 19-20. Corbett's claim that the State's failure to present such an expert in this case is grounds for reversal is unsupported by authority and lacks common sense in 2015.

Corbett's contention is based on a too-narrow interpretation of this Court's decision in <u>State v. Grant</u>, 83 Wn. App. 98, 920 P.2d 609 (1996). In <u>Grant</u>, this Court recognized the relevance, in terms of assessing an alleged victim's credibility and state of mind, of the

fact that victims of domestic violence "often attempt to placate their abusers in an effort to avoid repeated violence, and often minimize the degree of violence when discussing it with others." <u>Grant</u>, 83 Wn. App. at 107. Accordingly, this Court upheld³ the admission of evidence of prior episodes of spousal abuse inflicted by Grant on his wife, so that the jury could fully understand the nature of their relationship. <u>Id.</u> at 108, 109 n.7 (citing numerous out-of-state cases reaching similar conclusions).

In <u>Grant</u>, the State additionally sought to present the testimony of Ms. Grant's therapist in order to expand upon the dynamics of a relationship marked by domestic violence. <u>Id.</u> at 108. This Court acknowledged that such expert testimony would also be proper for admission under ER 404(b). <u>Id.</u> at 109. However, neither this Court nor other appellate courts in this state has ever *conditioned* the admissibility of prior acts of domestic abuse on the predicate that an expert testifies about the dynamics of abusive relationships. Instead, Washington courts have recognized that the fact of prior bad acts has independent relevance justifying admission pursuant to ER 404(b). <u>See State v. Magers</u>, 164 Wn.2d 174, 184-86, 189 P.3d 126 (2008); <u>State v.</u>

³ This Court held that this evidence was appropriately admissible under ER 404(b), rather than ER 609, the rule relied upon by the trial court.

Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916, 923-24, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014); State v. Ashley, __ Wn. App. __, _ P.3d __, 2015 WL 3444268 at *6 n.3 (Wash. Ct. App., May 27, 2015); Parrott-Horjes v. Rice, 168 Wn. App. 438, 444 n.6, 276 P.3d 376 (2012); State v. Baker, 162 Wn. App. 468, 474-45, 259 P.3d 270 (2011); State v. Nelson, 131 Wn. App. 108, 114-16, 125 P.3d 1008 (2006).

The need for expert testimony in this area has likely diminished since this Court decided <u>Grant</u> nearly 20 years ago. Domestic violence, and the variety of troubling impacts it can have on victims, is much more openly and commonly discussed and acknowledged than ever before, and jurors are likely to be more equipped to understand the ramifications of long-term abuse without the need for guidance from an expert witness. That is, past acts of assault are, on their own, more recognizably probative of a recanting victim's credibility and state of mind in 2015 than when society was less willing to face the reality of violence in the home.

Corbett cites to no decision since <u>Grant</u> that requires expert testimony in this context, and common sense runs against the logic of his claim. It should be denied.

3. THE PATTERN INSTRUCTION DEFINING "REASONABLE DOUBT" IS A CORRECT STATEMENT OF LAW.

Corbett argues that the language of Washington Pattern Jury Instruction 4.01, included as Instruction No. 3 in the trial court's instructions to the jury,⁴ is a misstatement of law because it defines a reasonable doubt as "one for which a reason exists," and that his convictions must be reversed as a result. Corbett did not object to this or any other instruction given by the trial court to the jury. 7RP 311-12.

An instructional error that a defendant did not timely object to may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it is manifest error affecting a constitutional right with practical and identifiable consequences. RAP 2.5(a); State v. Lynn, 67 Wn. App. 339, 342-44, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). Jury instructions are read as a whole and in a commonsense manner. State v. Bowerman, 115 Wn.2d 794, 809, 802 P.2d 116 (1990). A court will not assume a strained reading of an instruction. State v. Moultrie, 143 Wn. App. 387, 394, 177 P.3d 776 (2008). The instructions are legally sufficient if they permit the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not mislead the jury, and properly inform the jury of the applicable law. State v.

⁴ CP 33.

<u>Barnes</u>, 153 Wn.2d 378, 382, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005). A trial court's instructions must define reasonable doubt and convey to the jury that the State bears the burden of proving every essential element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Bennett</u>, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007).

Corbett fails to demonstrate simple error, much less a manifest error of constitutional magnitude. He contends that Instruction No. 3 improperly shifted the burden of proof by somehow leading the jurors to believe that they needed to spell out a specific reason for acquittal, easing the State's responsibility to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Brief of Appellant, at 25. However, the state supreme court has held that the pattern instruction on which Instruction No. 3 was modeled is an accurate statement of law:

We have approved WPIC 4.01 and concluded that it adequately permits both the government and the accused to argue their theories of the case. [Citation omitted.] We recognize that the concept of reasonable doubt seems at times difficult to define and explain... [b]ut every effort to improve or enhance the standard approved instruction necessarily introduces new concepts, undefined terms and shifts, perhaps ever so slightly, the emphasis of the instruction.... Even if many variations of the definition of reasonable doubt meet minimal due process requirements, the presumption of innocence is simply too fundamental, too central to the core of the

foundation of our justice system not to require adherence to a clear, simple, accepted, and uniform instruction.... Trial courts are instructed to use the WPIC 4.01 instruction to inform the jury of the government's burden to prove every element of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 317-18.

The <u>Bennett</u> decision is not the first instance in which the supreme court has ruled on similar language in jury instructions. In 1901, the court upheld an instruction which informed the jury that a reasonable doubt is one "for which a good reason exists, — a doubt which would cause a reasonable and prudent man to hesitate and pause in a matter of importance, such as the one you are now considering." <u>State v. Harras</u>, 25 Wash. 416, 421, 65 P. 774 (1901) (holding that the instruction "is accorded the great weight of authority, and is not error.").

In 1959, the state supreme court addressed a challenge to a then-standard instruction that explained to the jury "that the doubt which entitled the defendant to an acquittal must be a doubt for which a reason exists." State v. Tanzymore, 54 Wn.2d 290, 340 P.2d 178 (1959). The Tanzymore court concluded that the instruction was one which "has been accepted as a correct statement of law for so many years, [so] we find the assignment

[of error] without merit." <u>Tanzymore</u>, 54 Wn.2d at 291; <u>see also</u>

<u>State v. Pirtle</u>, 127 Wn.2d 628, 658, 904 P.2d 245 (1995)

(observing that the language still included in the current version of WPIC 4.01 "previously has passed constitutional muster.").

In <u>State v. Thompson</u>, 13 Wn. App. 1, 533 P.2d 395 (1975), the defendant presented a challenge to the reasonable doubt instruction that is essentially identical to Corbett's, arguing "rather strenuously that this phrase [i.e., "a doubt for which a reason exists"] (1) infringes upon the presumption of innocence, and (2) misleads the jury because it requires them to assign a reason for their doubt in order to acquit." <u>State v. Thompson</u>, 13 Wn. App. at 4-5. In rejecting Thompson's contention, the court of appeals stated:

Although we recognize that this instruction has its detractors, it was specifically approved in <u>State v. Tanzymore...</u> We are, therefore, constrained to uphold it. We would comment only that it does not infringe upon the constitutional right that a defendant is presumed innocent; but tells the jury when, and in what manner, they may validly conclude that the presumption of innocence has been overcome.

Furthermore, the particular phrase, when read in the context of the entire instruction does not direct the jury to assign a reason for their doubts, but merely points out that their doubts must be based on reason, and not something vague or imaginary. A phrase in

this context has been declared satisfactory in this jurisdiction for over 70 years.

Thompson, 13 Wn. App. at 5.

Corbett fails to cite to or address many of these cases. Instead, he tries to equate a case of prosecutorial misconduct involving closing argument with the statement of law contained in his jury's instructions. Specifically, he claims that Instruction No. 3 amounts to asking the jury to articulate a justification for having reasonable doubt, similar to the "fill-in-the-blank" closing argument that the state supreme court found improper in State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). However, in Emery the supreme court noted that the prosecutor had not erred when he described reasonable doubt as a "doubt for which a reason exists." Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760. Instead, the prosecutor acted improperly when he specifically argued to the jury that they had to "fill in the blank" for what their doubt was. Id. In other words, it was the prosecutor's elaboration on WPIC 4.01 that created error, rather than the pattern instruction itself.

The doctrine of *stare decisis* requires that precedent be overruled only upon a clear showing that it is incorrect and harmful. State v. Njonge, 181 Wn.2d 546, 555, 334 P.3d 1068 (2014).

In addition, the decisions of the state supreme court are binding on the court of appeals, and it is error for the court of appeals not to follow directly controlling authority by the supreme court.

State v. Pedro, 148 Wn. App. 932, 950, 201 P.3d 398 (2009).

Corbett has failed to show that the state supreme court's decisions from Harras through Bennett are wrong, or that they do not control this Court's discretion as to his claim.

4. THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING ARGUMENT.

Corbett accuses the State of committing misconduct during its closing argument during the guilt phase of his trial in two regards. First, Corbett asserts that the deputy prosecutor improperly and intentionally disparaged defense counsel when he argued to the jury, in his initial closing remarks, that the idea that Ms. Harris would falsely blame Corbett for her and her son's injuries immediately after they were harmed was absurd, as would be the belief that Mohamed falsely identified Corbett as Ms. Harris's assailant in exchange for a free set of steak knives. Brief of Appellant, at 32-33. Corbett further argues that the prosecutor engaged in deliberate wrongdoing by using the term "we know" when reviewing the evidence for the jury. Corbett maintains that,

in doing so, the prosecutor both purposely vouched for the credibility of the State's witnesses and deliberately attempted to align the jury with the State against him. Brief of Appellant, at 35-37. Corbett contends that the prosecutor's remarks were so flagrant and ill-intentioned that they could not have been remedied by a curative instruction, thus entitling him to appellate relief despite his failure to object at trial to any of the statements he now attempts to depict as brazen wrongdoing.

Corbett's contentions should be rejected in their entirety. In order to establish prosecutorial misconduct, a defendant must prove that the prosecutor's conduct was improper and that it prejudiced his right to a fair trial. State v. Carver, 122 Wn. App. 300, 306, 93 P.2d 947 (2004). A defendant can establish prejudice only if he shows a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. Id. A prosecutor's comments during closing argument are reviewed in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the jury instructions. Id. If, as here, defense counsel fails to object to the prosecutor's statements, then reversal is required only if the misconduct was so deliberate and malicious that no

instruction would have cured the resulting prejudice. <u>See State v.</u> <u>Belgarde</u>, 110 Wn.2d 504, 508, 755 P.2d 174 (1988).

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